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Alkane Resources Ltd
Directors' report
30 June 2016

Directors' report

Your Directors present their report on the Consolidated Entity consisting of Alkane Resources Ltd and the
entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2016. Throughout the report, the
Consolidated Entity is referred to as the Group.

Directors

The following persons were Directors of Alkane Resources Ltd during the whole of the financial year and up
to the date of this report:

J S F Dunlop
D I Chalmers
I J Gandel
A D Lethlean

Information on Directors

John Stuart Ferguson Dunlop - Non-Executive Chairman
BE (Min), MEng SC (Min), PCertArb, FAusIMM (CP), FIMM, MAIME, MCIMM

Appointed Director and Chairman 3 July 2006

Mr Dunlop is a consultant mining engineer with over 46 years surface and underground mining experience
both in Australia and overseas. He is a former Director of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy
(2001 - 2006) and is a Board member and past Chairman of MICA (Mineral Industry Consultants Association).

Mr Dunlop was Non-Executive Chairman of Alliance Resources Limited (30 November 1994 - 31 May 2016).
He has also been a Non-Executive Director of Copper Strike Limited (9 November 2009 - 6 June 2014) and a
Director of Gippsland Limited (1 July 2005 - 12 July 2013). Mr Dunlop is also a certified arbitrator and mineral
asset valuer and consults widely overseas.

Mr Dunlop is a member of the Audit Committee and Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination
Committees.

David Ian (Ian) Chalmers - Managing Director
MSc, FAusIMM, FAIG, FIMM, FSEG, MSGA, MGSA, FAICD

Appointed Director 10 June 1986, appointed Managing Director 5 October 2006

Mr Chalmers is a geologist and graduate of the Western Australia Institute of Technology (Curtin University)
and has a Master of Science degree from the University of Leicester in the United Kingdom. He has worked in
the mining and exploration industry for over 45 years, during which time he has had experience in all facets of
exploration and mining through feasibility and development to the production phase.

Mr Chalmers was Technical Director until his appointment as Managing Director in 2006, overseeing the
Group's minerals exploration efforts across Australia (New South Wales and Western Australia), Indonesia
and New Zealand and the development and operations of the Peak Hill Gold Mine (NSW). Since taking on the
role as chief executive he has steered the Company through construction and development of the now fully
operational Tomingley Gold Operations and to the threshold of development of the world class Dubbo
Zirconia Project.

Mr Chalmers is a member of the Nomination Committee.
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Directors' report
30 June 2016
(continued)

Information on Directors (continued)

Ian Jeffrey Gandel - Non-Executive Director
LLB, BEc, FCPA, FAICD

Appointed Director 24 July 2006

Mr Gandel is a successful Melbourne based businessman with extensive experience in retail management
and retail property. He has been a Director of the Gandel Retail Trust and has had an involvement in the
construction and leasing of Gandel shopping centres. He has previously been involved in the Priceline retail
chain and the CEO of a chain of serviced offices.

Through his private investment vehicles, Mr Gandel has been an investor in the mining industry since 1994.
Mr Gandel is currently a substantial holder in a number of publicly listed Australian companies and, through
his private investment vehicles, now holds and explores tenements in his own right in Victoria, Western
Australia and New South Wales. Mr Gandel is also a Non-Executive Director of Alliance Resources Ltd
(appointed 15 October 2003) and in June 2016 was appointed Non-Executive Chairman of that company. He
is also Non-Executive chairman of Octagonal Resources Limited (appointed 10 November 2010) and has
been a Director and Non-Executive Chairman of Gippsland Limited (24 June 2009 - 14 April 2015).

Mr Gandel is a member of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees.

Anthony Dean Lethlean - Non-Executive Director
BAppSc (Geology)

Appointed Director 30 May 2002

Mr Lethlean is a geologist with over 10 years mining experience including 4 years underground on the Golden
Mile in Kalgoorlie. In later years, Mr Lethlean has been working as a resources analyst with various
stockbrokers including formerly as a principal of Helmsec Global Capital Limited. Mr Lethlean is a
Non-Executive Director of Alliance Resources Limited (appointed 15 October 2003).

Mr Lethlean is senior independent Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration and Nomination Committees.

Company secretary

Karen E V Brown
BEc (hons)

Ms Brown is a Director and Company Secretary of Mineral Administration Services Pty Ltd which provides
company secretarial, corporate administration and accounting services to the Group. She has considerable
experience in corporate administration of listed companies over a period of some 28 years, primarily in the
mineral exploration industry. She is currently also Company Secretary of publicly listed General Mining
Corporation Limited.
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Alkane Resources Ltd
Directors' report
30 June 2016
(continued)

Dividends - Alkane Resources Ltd

No dividends have been paid by the Company during the financial year ended 30 June 2016 nor have the
Directors recommended that any dividends be paid (2015: nil).

Review of operations

The Group continues to be actively involved in mineral exploration and evaluation, development and
extraction, focussing on its core projects at Tomingley and Dubbo in New South Wales.

Result for the year

The Group’s net profit for the period after tax was $4,695,000 (30 June 2015: net loss $4,086,000). The result
includes a profit before tax of $14,304,000 in relation to the Tomingley Gold Operations (30 June 2015:
$589,000)

Tomingley Gold Operations

The gold operations at Tomingley are located approximately 50 kilometres south-west of Dubbo in the Central
West of NSW. The operations are based on four gold deposits. Wyoming One, Wyoming Three, Caloma One
and Caloma Two.

Mining occurred in three pits during the year, Wyoming Three, Caloma One and Wyoming One. Mining in the
Wyoming Three pit concluded in October 2015 with the pit producing over 40% more ounces than the
modelled resource. Caloma One provided the main ore source for the year with slightly negative
reconciliations against the resource model influenced predominantly by the presence and interpretation of the
boundaries of some dolerite dykes in the resource model. As a result the resource model was revised in the
June 2016 quarter with reconciliation to date in line with the updated model. Waste removal commenced in a
starter pit in Wyoming One in late July 2015 with first ore extracted in the March quarter. Initial reconciliations
in Wyoming One have met expectations. The Caloma Two resource has been incorporated into the open pit
development schedule and regulatory approval for its development was confirmed in July 2016.

Total material movements for the period of 6,706,960 bcm comprised 6,199,820 bcm of waste and 507,140
bcm of ore at an average stripping ratio of 12.2. The increase in the stripping ratio from the corresponding
period reflects the waste removal in the Wyoming One pit.

Milling for the period was in line with design capacity at 1,096,105 tonnes. The reduction in milled tonnes from
the prior comparative period reflects the transition to predominately fresh ore feed. Gold recovery reduced
from 93.9% to 90.9% in line with expectations, also a reflection of the transition to fresh ore feed.

Production for the year was within market guidance at 67,812 ounces at an all in sustaining cost (AISC) of
$1,256 per ounce also within guidance. The average sales price achieved for the period of $1,605 per ounce
resulted in a strong average margin of $349 per ounce.
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Alkane Resources Ltd
Directors' report
30 June 2016
(continued)

Review of operations (continued)

Tomingley Gold Operations (continued)

The table below summarises the key operational information.

TGO Unit

Quarter Ended
Financial Year

Ended

30 Sep
2015

31 Dec
2015

31 Mar
2016

30 Jun
2016

30 Jun
2016

30 Jun
2015

Production
Ore mined BCM 157,755 100,229 77,978 171,178 507,140 619,753
Waste mined BCM 1,676,850 1,447,753 1,839,737 1,235,480 6,199,820 5,730,662
Stripping ratio Ratio 10.6 14.4 23.6 7.2 12.2 9.2
Ore mined Tonnes 433,744 277,061 198,877 375,772 1,285,454 1,386,291
Grade mined

(2)
g/t 1.87 1.84 1.93 1.75 1.84 1.66

Ore milled Tonnes 271,980 257,998 270,155 295,972 1,096,105 1,140,704
Head grade g/t 2.44 1.93 2.02 1.94 2.08 2.01
Gold recovery % 92.6 91.4 89.5 90.5 90.9 93.9
Gold production

(3)
Ounces 19,789 15,347 14,612 18,064 67,812 69,612

Revenue Summary
Gold sales Ounces 21,000 14,250 15,000 17,733 67,983 70,734
Average price
realised A$/oz 1,565 1,583 1,621 1,658 1,605 1,441
Sales revenue A$M's 32.9 22.6 24.3 29.4 109.1 101.9
Cost Summary
Mining A$/oz 784 731 774 659 736 707
Processing A$/oz 242 322 361 266 292 321
Site support A$/oz 78 113 114 84 96 95
C1 Cash Cost A$/oz 1,104 1,166 1,249 1,009 1,124 1,123
Royalties A$/oz 46 43 45 51 46 40
Sustaining capital A$/oz 36 44 1 39 31 25
Rehabilitation A$/oz 16 20 22 15 18 21
Corporate A$/oz 32 43 41 35 37 40
AISC

(1) A$/oz 1,234 1,316 1,358 1,149 1,256 1,249
space
Stockpiles
Ore stockpiles Tonnes 678,681 698,744 618,218 701,047 701,047 468,032
Stockpile grade

(2)
g/t 0.95 0.94 0.80 0.82 0.82 0.84

Bullion on hand Ounces 1,951 3,040 2,645 2,971 2,971 3,169

(1) All in Sustaining Cost (AISC) comprises all site operating costs, royalties, mine exploration, sustaining
capex, mine development and an allocation of corporate costs on the basis of ounces produced. AISC does
not include share based payments or net realisable value provision for product inventory.
(2) Based on the resource models.
(3) Represents gold poured at site, not adjusted for refining adjustments which results in minor differences
between the movements in bullion on hand and the difference between production and sales.

Development of the underground mine continues with completion of a pre-feasibility study during the period
and generation of an initial underground reserve. Underground operations below Wyoming One and Caloma
One and Two are incorporated into the life of mine schedule.
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Alkane Resources Ltd
Directors' report
30 June 2016
(continued)

Review of operations (continued)

Dubbo Zirconia Project

Alkane Resources Ltd’s subsidiary, Australian Zirconia Limited (AZL), is proceeding towards development of
the Dubbo Zirconia Project (DZP or the Project), a potential strategic supply of critical minerals for a range of
‘high-tech’ and sustainable technologies. It is based on a large resource of zirconium, hafnium, niobium,
tantalum, yttrium and rare earth elements, located at Toongi, 30 kilometres south of the large regional centre
of Dubbo in the Central West of NSW.

The DZP is a unique, long-life asset with a potential mine life of 70 plus years. Unlike many projects of this
kind, it is a polymetallic deposit providing potential revenue from multiple product streams.

The Project is fully permitted with all necessary approvals in place to allow commencement of construction
activities. Following on from receipt of State Government Planning Approval, the Project received Federal
Environmental Approval in August 2015. The mining lease was granted by the NSW Department of Industry,
Division of Resources and Energy on 18 December 2015 and the NSW Environment Protection Authority
granted an Environment Protection Licence (EPL) covering the construction for the DZP on 14 March 2016.

The final land acquisitions covering the project area were completed during the year with AZL owning circa
3,500 hectares around the site. Of this land, 500 hectares is required for mining and processing operations,
around 1,000 hectares is allocated to biodiversity offset (a federal environmental requirement) and the
remaining 2,000 hectares will be retained for farming. To manage the farming activities and biodiversity
offsets, Toongi Pastoral Company Pty Ltd (TPC) has been formed and a professional manager engaged to
oversee these operations. A comprehensive plan is being developed for TPC to be a self-sustaining and
profitable agricultural business.

The project remains ready for detailed design and construction to commence, contingent on financing. The
front end engineering and design (FEED) with Hatch was completed in August 2015 confirming the Project's
robust economics and an agreement was entered into with Outotec, a global minerals and metals processing
technology supplier, to conduct an early contractor involvement (ECI) process to identify further value in the
project design produced by the extensive FEED. After the initial phase of the ECI, the intention is for Outotec
to execute the process plant segment of the scope for AZL on an Engineering, Procurement and Construction
(EPC) basis. This has the dual advantages of developing key technology and a support relationship and
capping the execution risk for AZL.

Further process development work on the hafnium and zirconium refining circuit was performed during the
period improving the understanding of the flow sheet. This includes the process drivers that affect product
recoveries and specifications of the zirconium strip liquor, and therefore the hafnium concentrate and
zirconium specifications of the final products. Inclusion of the hafnium circuit in the DZP has added significant
value to the Project and has been well recognised by key stakeholders.

Demonstration pilot plant trials are planned in the September 2016 quarter to produce additional product to
assist with process refinement and confirmation of test results obtained at the laboratory scale. This will also
involve the production of hafnium concentrate and zirconium products for customer evaluations, a critical
pre-curser to securing committed offtake agreements, as well as rare earth concentrate.

In April 2016 AZL executed a letter of intent with Vietnam Rare Earth JSC (VTRE) to toll process the rare
earth concentrate to be produced by the DZP into individual rare earth products. VTRE is a specialist
Vietnamese chemical and advanced materials company which operates a processing plant to produce
separated rare earth oxides from rare earth concentrates. Further toll processing of DZP feed to produce rare
earth metal alloys is also intended along with the establishment of a joint marketing company as the vehicle to
market VTRE’s currently produced rare earths and associated downstream products. The agreement
provides AZL with an exclusive right for twelve months to complete due diligence and for the parties to finalise
the terms of the agreements envisaged.
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Directors' report
30 June 2016
(continued)

Review of operations (continued)

Dubbo Zirconia Project (continued)

Marketing activities continued throughout the year with dispatch of further samples, plus meetings with major
companies from Europe, Japan, Korea, USA and China for DZP products. Significant focus continues to be
applied to securing offtake partners. Subsequent to year end, AZL entered into an exclusive marketing and
sales agreement with Minchem Ltd for all zirconium products produced by the company for five years from
commencement of DZP production.

AZL continues to work with its advisors, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation to progress funding of the
project. The broad strategy remains with the intention that strategic investment in the project, Export Credit
Agency finance and commercial debt will be maximised. The next key step in the financing program is
customer confirmation of products certification and securing committed long term offtake agreements that will
underpin the financial modelling.

Exploration

The Company maintained a focussed multi commodity exploration program in the Central West of NSW with
low level activities during the period. Alkane completed the acquisition of Kaiser porphyry gold-copper
prospect (part of Bodangora Project) through the payment of $200,000 and has also entered in to a farm in
agreement with Clancy Exploration Ltd to earn up to 80% of the Orange East project through expenditure of
$1 million over six years.

Encouraging intercepts were recorded from drilling of targets within the Bodangora-Kaiser Project and at the
Elsienora Project, and further exploration is planned to advance these projects during 2017.

Significant changes in the state of affairs

The financial position and performance of the Group has been impacted by the following specific events or
transactions during the year ended 30 June 2016 when compared to the year ended 30 June 2015:

• During May 2016, a one for five share entitlement issue was undertaken raising $12,388,000 (before
costs) to provide funding support for the ongoing development of the DZP. The shortfall of the
entitlements issue was placed to institutional and professional investors in July 2016 raising
$4,141,000 (before costs).

For a detailed discussion about the Group’s performance please refer to the Review of Operations.

Events since the end of the financial year

Since 30 June 2016, the Group finalised the shortfall placement of the one for five share entitlement issue.
Please refer to the significant changes in the state of affairs above for more details.

The Group entered into a $14,000,000 working capital facility with Macquarie Bank Limited comprising a
project loan facility, performance bond facility and hedging facility. Facility documentation was completed in
early July allowing for draw down on the loan and bond facilities.

The Group entered into an exclusive marketing and sales agreement with Minchem Ltd in August. Refer to
the Review of Operations report for more details.

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2016 that has significantly affected the Group's
operations, results or state of affairs, or significantly affect;

(a) the Group's operations in future financial years, or
(b) the results of those operations in future financial years, or
(c) the Group's state of affairs in future financial years.
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Alkane Resources Ltd
Directors' report
30 June 2016
(continued)

Likely developments and expected results of operations

The Group intends to continue evaluation and development activities in relation to the Dubbo Zirconia Project
in line with details provided in the review of operations. Efforts at the Tomingley Gold Operation continue to
be focussed on optimising performance and extending the mine life for both open pit and underground
operations. Exploration and evaluation activities will continue on existing tenements and opportunities to
expand the Group's tenement portfolio will be pursued with a view to ensuring there is a pipeline of
development opportunities to be considered.

Refer to the Review of Operations for further detail on planned developments.

Environmental regulation

The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect of its exploration, development,
construction and mining activities.

The Group aspires to the highest standards of environmental management and insists its staff and
contractors maintain that standard. A significant environmental incident is considered to be one that causes a
major impact or impacts to land biodiversity, ecosystem services, water resources or air, with effects lasting
greater than one year. There were no significant environmental incidents reported at any of the Group's
operations.

Fines and prosecution

Tomingley Gold Operations Pty Ltd received a fine during the current year of $95,000 in relation to the two
incidents disclosed in the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 (2015:nil)

Meetings of Directors

The numbers of meetings of the Company's Board of Directors and of each Board Committee held during the
year ended 30 June 2016, and the numbers of meetings attended by each Director were:

Full meetings Meetings of committees

of Directors Audit Nomination Remuneration

Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held
J S F Dunlop 17 20 2 3 - 1 1 2
D I Chalmers 20 20 * * - 1 * *
I J Gandel 20 20 3 3 1 1 2 2
A D Lethlean 19 20 2 3 1 1 2 2

* Not a member of the relevant committee

Remuneration report

The Directors' are pleased to present Alkane Resources Ltd's remuneration report which sets out
remuneration information for the Company's Non-Executive Directors, Executive Director and other Key
Management Personnel.
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30 June 2016
(continued)

Remuneration report (continued)

The report contains the following sections:

(a) Key Management Personnel disclosed in this report
(b) Remuneration governance
(c) Use of remuneration consultants
(d) Executive remuneration policy and framework
(e) Statutory performance indicators
(f) Non-Executive Director remuneration policy
(g) Voting and comments made at the Company's 2015 Annual General Meeting
(h) Details of remuneration
(i) Service agreements
(j) Details of share-based payments and performance against key metrics
(k) Shareholdings and share rights held by Key Management Personnel

(a) Key Management Personnel disclosed in this report

Non-Executive and Executive Directors

J S F Dunlop
D I Chalmers
I J Gandel
A D Lethlean

Other Key Management Personnel

Name Position

N Earner Chief Operations Officer
M Ball Chief Financial Officer
K E Brown Company Secretary

There have been no changes to Directors or Key Management Personnel since the end of the reporting
period.

(b) Remuneration governance

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee to assist the Board in fulfilling its corporate
governance responsibilities with respect to remuneration by reviewing and making appropriate
recommendations to the Board on:

• the overall remuneration strategy and framework for the Company;
• the operation of the incentive plans which apply to the Executive team, including the appropriateness

of key performance indicators and performance hurdles; and
• the assessment of performance of and remuneration of the Executive director, other Key Management

Personnel and Non-Executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is a Committee of the Board and at the date of this report the members were
independent Non-Executive Directors J S F Dunlop, A D Lethlean and I J Gandel.

Their objective is to ensure that remuneration policies and structures are fair and competitive and aligned with
the long-term interests of the Company and its shareholders.

The Company's annual Corporate Governance Statement provides further information on the role of this
Committee.

(c) Use of remuneration consultants

No remuneration consultants were engaged in the financial year ended 30 June 2016 to provide remuneration
advice.
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Remuneration report (continued)

(d) Executive remuneration policy and framework

In determining Executive remuneration, the Board (or the Remuneration Committee as its delegate) aims to
ensure that remuneration practices:

• are competitive and reasonable, enabling the Company to attract and retain key talent while building a
diverse, sustainable and high achieving workforce;

• are aligned to the Company’s strategic and business objectives and the creation of shareholder value;
• promote a high performance culture recognising that leadership at all levels is a critical element in this

regard;
• are transparent; and
• are acceptable to shareholders.

The Executive remuneration framework has three components:

• Total Fixed Remuneration (TFR),
• Short-Term Incentives (STI), and
• Long-Term Incentives (LTI).

(i) Executive remuneration mix

The Company has in place Executive incentive programs which place a material portion of Executive pay "at
risk".

The table below reflects the target remuneration mix for the year to 30 June 2016 for the Key Management
Personnel eligible to receive incentives. It reflects the STI opportunity for the current year that will be available
if the performance conditions are satisfied and the value of the LTI rights granted during the year, as
determined at grant date.

Executive Position
Fixed

remuneration

At risk remuneration

STI
(1)

LTI
(2)

D I Chalmers
(3)

Managing Director 44% 12% 44%
N Earner Chief Operations Officer 44% 12% 44%
M Ball Chief Financial Officer 44% 12% 44%

(1) Subject to achievement of all performance targets and service condition.
(2) Subject to achievement of all performance targets, Total Shareholder Return (TSR) target and

service condition over the three year vesting period to 30 June 2018.
(3) Incentives relating to the Managing Director are subject to shareholder approval which was received

at the 2015 Annual General Meeting.

(ii) Total fixed remuneration

Total Fixed Remuneration (TFR) consists of base salary, benefits and superannuation. Benefits may include
health insurance, car allowances and salary sacrifice arrangements. TFR levels are assessed against the
median level of the resources sector through independent market data. Individual TFR is determined within an
appropriate range around the market median by referencing the specific role and associated responsibilities,
individual experience and performance.

A review is conducted of remuneration for all employees and Executives on an annual basis, or as required.
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining Executive TFR.
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Remuneration report (continued)

(d) Executive remuneration policy and framework (continued)

(iii) Incentive arrangements

The Company uses both short term and long term incentive programs to balance the short and long term
aspects of business performance, to reflect market practice, to attract and retain key talent and to ensure a
strong alignment between the incentive arrangements of Executives and the creation and delivery of
shareholder return.

Short-term incentives

All employees including Executives have the opportunity to earn an annual Short-Term Incentive (STI) if
predefined targets are achieved. The maximum STI opportunity for the Managing Director and invited
Executives is 25% of total fixed remuneration (calculated at the time of approval by the Remuneration
Committee).

The Executive STI are provided in the form of rights to ordinary shares in the Company that will vest at the
end of the performance period (generally 12 months) provided the predefined targets are met. On vesting, the
rights automatically convert into one ordinary share each. The Executives do not receive any dividends and
are not entitled to vote in relation to the rights to shares prior to vesting. If an Executive ceases to be
employed by the Group within this period (the service condition), the rights will be forfeited, except in limited
circumstances that are approved by the Board on a case-by-case basis. The STI rights are governed by the
performance rights plan approved by shareholders at the 2013 annual general meeting.

STI awards for the Executive team in the 2016 financial year were based on the scorecard measures and
weightings as disclosed below. Targets were approved by the Remuneration Committee at the beginning of
the financial year through a rigorous process and align to the Company’s strategic and business objectives.
Targets are reviewed and reset annually.

Performance category Performance metrics Weighting
Financial & operational Production and operating cost performance for the Tomingley

Gold Operations
40%

Growth Milestones relating to advancing the development of the Dubbo
Zirconia Project and execution of the Board approved
exploration plan to develop existing resources and discover
new resources

44%

Sustainability Specific targets relating to the development of and compliance
with safety and environmental management systems, and
engagement with the local community

16%

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining the STI to be paid based on an assessment of
whether the predefined targets are met. To assist in this assessment, the Committee receives detailed reports
on performance from management. The Committee has the discretion to adjust short term incentives
downwards in light of unexpected or unintended circumstances.

Long-term incentives

Long-term incentives are provided via a combination of performance rights and share appreciation rights. The
performance rights plan was approved by shareholders at the 2013 annual general meeting. The share
appreciation rights plan was approved by shareholders at the 2014 annual general meeting. Together they
are referred to as the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP).
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Remuneration report (continued)

(d) Executive remuneration policy and framework (continued)

Long-term incentives (continued)

The LTIP is designed to focus Executives on delivering long term shareholder returns. Eligibility for the plan is
restricted to Executives and nominated Senior Managers, being the employees who are most able to
influence shareholder value. Under the plan, participants have an opportunity to earn up to 100% of their total
fixed remuneration (calculated at the time of approval by the Remuneration Committee) comprised of part
performance rights and part share appreciation rights, provided that predefined targets are met over a three
year performance period. Performance rights are the reward vehicle for targets that are milestone based
whereas share appreciation rights are the reward vehicle for shareholder return targets as the number of
shares to be issued upon vesting is impacted by the quantum of shareholder value created. The table below
provides details on the LTIP targets set at the beginning of the 30 June 2016 financial year, their relative
weighting and the reward vehicle used for each target. The LTIP vesting period is three years (i.e. 30 June
2018).

LTI reward vehicle Performance metrics Weighting
Performance rights Progress of evaluation and development of Dubbo

Zirconia Project towards production
40%

Increase Tomingley Gold Operation value through
productivity improvements and mine life extension

10%

Share appreciation rights Absolute Total Shareholder Return (TSR) 50%

The performance rights component of the LTI will be provided in the form of rights to ordinary shares in
Alkane Resources Ltd that will vest at the end of the three year vesting period provided the predefined targets
are met. On vesting, the rights automatically convert into one ordinary share each. Participants do not receive
any dividends and are not entitled to vote in relation to the rights to shares prior to the vesting period. If a
participant ceases to be employed by the Group within this period, the rights will be forfeited, except in limited
circumstances that are approved by the Board on a case-by-case basis.

Under the share appreciation rights plan, participants are granted rights to receive fully paid ordinary shares
in the Company. Rights will only vest if the predefined TSR performance condition is met. If a participant
ceases to be employed by the Group within this period, the rights will be forfeited, except in limited
circumstances that are approved by the Board on a case-by-case basis.

Participation in the plan is at the Board’s discretion and no individual has a contractual right to participate in
the plan.

An absolute TSR target, as opposed to a TSR target relative to an index or a peer group, has been used to
reflect:

• the developmental stage of the Company and the impact that the successful development of the
Dubbo Zirconia Project is expected to have on the market value of the Company; and

• the absence of a sufficient number of comparable companies to benchmark against.

Targets are reviewed annually and set for a forward three year period. Targets reflect factors such as the
expectations of the Company’s business plans, the stage of development of the Company’s projects and the
industry business cycle. The most appropriate target benchmark (i.e. the use of an absolute or a relative TSR
target) will be reviewed each year prior to the granting of rights.
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Remuneration report (continued)

(d) Executive remuneration policy and framework (continued)

Long-term incentives (continued)

Vesting of the rights is subject to the Company’s TSR, including share price growth, dividends and capital
returns, exceeding certain growth hurdles over a three-year period as set out in the table below.

TSR Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR) % Share appreciation rights vesting
Less than 15% CAGR Nil
15% CAGR 50% vesting
Above 15% CAGR up to 25% CAGR Pro rata vesting from 50% - 100%
Above 25% CAGR 100%

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining the LTI to be paid based on an assessment of
whether the predefined targets are met. To assist in this assessment, the Committee receives detailed reports
on performance from management. The Committee has the discretion to adjust LTI's downwards in light of
unexpected or unintended circumstances.

On vesting, the Remuneration Committee will determine whether the rights will be settled by the issue or
transfer of ordinary shares or by cash settlement.

(iv) Clawback policy for incentives

Under the terms and conditions of the Company’s incentive plan offer and the plan rules, the Board (or the
Remuneration Committee as its delegate) has discretion to determine forfeiture of unvested equity awards in
certain circumstances (e.g. unlawful, fraudulent or dishonest behaviour or serious breach of obligations to the
Company). All incentive offers and final outcomes are subject to the full discretion of the Board (or the
Remuneration Committee as its delegate).

(v) Share trading policy

The trading of shares issued to participants under any of the Company’s employee equity plans is subject to,
and conditional upon, compliance with the Company’s employee share trading policy. Executives are
prohibited from entering into any hedging arrangements over unvested rights under the Company’s employee
incentive plans. The Company would consider a breach of this policy as gross misconduct which may lead to
disciplinary action and potentially dismissal.

(e) Statutory performance indicators

The Company aims to align Executive remuneration to the Company’s strategic and business objectives and
the creation of shareholder wealth. The table below shows measures of the Group’s financial performance
over the last 5 years as required by the Corporations Act 2001. However, these are not necessarily consistent
with the specific measures in determining the variable amounts of remuneration to be awarded to Key
Management Personnel. As a consequence, there may not always be a direct correlation between the
statutory key performance measures and the variable remuneration rewarded.
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Remuneration report (continued)

(e) Statutory performance indicators (continued)

30 June

2016

30 June

2015

30 June

2014

30 June

2013
(1)

31 Dec

2012

Revenue ($'000) 109,624 102,467 25,264 1,370 96,716

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
owners ($'000) 4,695 (4,086) (6,170) (66,418) 66,535
Basic earnings/(loss) per share
(cents) 1.1 (1.0) (1.7) (17.8) 0.20
Dividends payments ($'000) - - - - -
Share price at period end (cents) 0.20 0.28 0.27 0.31 0.68
Total KMP incentives vested as a
percentage of profit/(loss) for the year
% 3.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.1%

(1) Six month period

(f) Non-Executive Director remuneration policy

On appointment to the Board, all Non-Executive Directors enter into a Service Agreement with the Company
in the form of a letter of appointment. The letter summarises the Board policies and terms, including
remuneration, relevant to the office of Director.

Non-Executive Directors receive a Board fee and fees for chairing or participating on Board Committees.
Non-Executive Directors appointed do not receive retirement allowances. Fees provided are inclusive of
superannuation and the Non-Executive Directors do not receive performance-based pay.

Fees are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee taking into account comparable roles and
market data obtained from independent data providers. The current base fees for Non-Executive Directors
have not changed since 1 January 2013.

The maximum annual aggregate Directors’ fee pool limit (inclusive of applicable superannuation) is $700,000
and was approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 16 May 2013.

Details of Non-Executive Director fees in the year ended 30 June 2016 are as follows:

$ per annum
Base fees
Chair 125,000
Other Non-Executive Directors 75,000

Additional fees
Audit Committee - chair 7,500
Audit Committee - member 5,000
Remuneration Committee - chair 7,500
Remuneration Committee - member 5,000

For services in addition to ordinary services, Non-Executive Directors may charge per diem consulting fees at
the rate specified by the Board from time to time for a maximum of 4 days per month over a 12 month rolling
basis. Any fees in excess of this limit are to be approved by the Board.
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Remuneration report (continued)

(g) Voting and comments made at the Company's 2015 Annual General Meeting

The Company received more than 89% of “yes” votes on its remuneration report for the last financial period
ended 30 June 2015. The Company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year
on its remuneration practices.

(h) Details of remuneration

The following table shows details of the remuneration expense recognised for the Directors and the Key
Management Personnel of the Group for the current and previous financial year measured in accordance with
the requirements of the accounting standards.

Fixed remuneration
Variable
remuneration Total

Name Year
Cash

salary
(1)

Non
monetary
benefits

(1)

Annual
and
long

service
leave

(2)

Post-
employ-

ment
benefits

(3)

Rights to
deferred
shares

(4)

$ $ $ $ $ $
Executive Director
D I Chalmers 2016 360,000 25,643 7,939 34,200 153,381 581,163

2015 360,000 - 5,895 34,200 65,333 465,428
Other Key Management
Personnel
N Earner 2016 396,000 - 2,321 37,620 168,719 604,660

2015 396,000 - 773 37,620 71,867 506,260
M Ball 2016 337,177 - 2,438 29,640 132,930 502,185

2015 337,177 - 1,463 29,640 56,622 424,902
K E Brown

(5)
2016 302,229 - - - - 302,229

K E Brown & L A Colless(5) 2015 316,925 - - - - 316,925
Total Executive Director 2016 1,395,406 25,643 12,698 101,460 455,030 1,990,237
and other KMP 2015 1,410,102 8,131 101,460 193,822 1,713,515
Total NED 2016 283,106 - - 26,894 - 310,000
remuneration

(6) 2015 283,106 - - 26,894 - 310,000
Total KMP 2016 1,678,511 25,643 12,698 128,355 455,030 2,300,237
remuneration expense 2015 1,693,208 - 8,131 128,354 193,822 2,023,515

(1) Short-term benefits as per Corporations Regulation 2M.3.03(1) Item 6.
(2) Other long-term benefits as per Corporations Regulation 2M.3.03(1) Item 8.
(3) Post employment benefits are provided through superannuation contributions.
(4) Rights to deferred shares granted under the executive STI and LTI schemes are expensed over the

performance period, which includes the year to which the incentive relates and the subsequent
vesting period of the rights. Rights to deferred shares are equity-settled share based-payments as
per the Corporations Regulation 2M.3.03(1) Item11. These include negative amounts for rights
forfeited during the year. In the prior year the table did not include the notional accounting expenses
relating to share based payments and long service leave for certain Key Management Personnel.
The comparatives have been updated to include this information. The expenses were correctly
recorded in the financial statements. Details of each grant of share right was provided in the table in
section (j). Shareholder approval was received in advance to the grant of share rights where
required.

(5) Corporate, administration, accounting and Company secretarial fees paid to Mineral Administration
Services Pty Ltd, a Company associated with Ms Brown.

(6) Refer below for details of NED remuneration.

15



Alkane Resources Ltd
Directors' report
30 June 2016
(continued)

Remuneration report (continued)

(h) Details of remuneration (continued)

30 June 2016
Cash

salary and
fees Superannuation Total

$ $ $
Non-Executive Directors
J S F Dunlop 125,571 11,929 137,500
I J Gandel 77,626 7,374 85,000
A D Lethlean 79,909 7,591 87,500
Total Non-Executive Directors 283,106 26,894 310,000

30 June 2015
Cash

salary and
fees Superannuation Total

$ $ $
Non-Executive Directors
J S F Dunlop 125,571 11,929 137,500
I J Gandel 77,626 7,374 85,000
A D Lethlean 79,909 7,591 87,500
Total Non-Executive Directors 283,106 26,894 310,000

The relative proportions of remuneration expense recognised during the year that are linked to performance
and those that are fixed are as follows:

Fixed remuneration At risk - STI At risk - LTI

2016
%

2015
%

2016
%

2015
%

2016
%

2015
%

Executive Director of Alkane
Resources Ltd
I Chalmers 74 86 8 - 18 14

Other Key Management
Personnel
N Earner 72 86 9 - 19 14
M Ball 74 87 8 - 18 13

Company Secretary K E Brown, is not an employee of the Company and therefore is not eligible to participate
in incentive programs. Instead a fixed fee for services rendered is paid as set out previously.
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Remuneration report (continued)

(i) Service agreements

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Managing Director and Key Management Personnel are
formalised in Service Agreements. The Service Agreements specify the components of remuneration,
benefits and notice periods. Participation in the STI and LTI plans is subject to the Board’s discretion. Other
major provisions of the Agreements relating to remuneration are set out below.

Name and position Term of agreement TFR
(1)

Termination
payment

(2)

D I Chalmers - Managing Director Commencing 1 July 2015 - renewable
annually

$394,200 By mutual
agreement

N Earner - Chief Operations Officer On-going commencing 2 September
2013

$433,620 2 months

M Ball - Chief Financial Officer On-going commencing 29 October 2012 $366,817 2 months

K E Brown - Company Secretary Commencing 1 July 2015 - renewable
annually

$302,229 12 months
maximum

(3)

(1) With the exception of K E Brown who is not an employee of the company Total Fixed Remuneration
(TFR) is inclusive of superannuation and is for the year ended 30 June 2016. TFR is reviewed
annually by the Remuneration Committee. D I Chalmers contract includes motor vehicle expenses up
to value of $36,000 plus applicable taxes in addition to the figure in the table above.

(2) Specified termination payments are within the limits set by the Corporations Act 2001 and therefore
do not require shareholder approval. In the event that the Managing Director's contract was
terminated and a termination benefit of longer than twelve months was agreed, shareholder approval
would be required.

(3) Termination by mutual agreement.
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Remuneration report (continued)

(j) Details of share based payments and performance against key metrics

Details of each grant of share rights affecting remuneration in the current or a future reporting period are set
out below.

Name

Date of
grant

Number
of rights
granted

Fair
value of

share
rights at
date of
grant

Number
of share
rights at

fair
value

Performance
period

end

Share
based

payment
expense
current

year
$ $ $

Executive Director
I Chalmers
FY2015 LTI - Performance
Rights 5/12/2014 666,667 0.21 140,000 30/06/2017 (14,000)
FY2015 LTI - Share
Appreciation Rights 5/12/2014 1,800,000 0.07 126,000 30/06/2017 42,000
FY2016 STI - Performance
Rights 18/11/2015 281,249 0.25 70,312 30/06/2016 46,856
FY2016 LTI - Performance
Rights 18/11/2015 562,500 0.25 140,625 30/06/2018 11,025
FY2016 LTI - Share
Appreciation Rights 18/11/2015 2,250,000 0.09 202,500 30/06/2018 67,500

Other Key Management
Personnel
N Earner
FY2015 LTI - Performance
Rights 5/12/2014 733,333 0.21 154,000 30/06/2017 (15,400)
FY2015 LTI - Share
Appreciation Rights 5/12/2014 1,980,000 0.07 138,600 30/06/2017 46,200
FY2016 STI - Performance
Rights 18/11/2015 309,375 0.25 77,344 30/06/2016 51,542
FY2016 LTI - Performance
Rights 18/11/2015 618,750 0.25 154,688 30/06/2018 12,127
FY2016 LTI - Share
Appreciation Rights 18/11/2015 2,475,000 0.09 222,750 30/06/2018 74,250

M Ball
FY2015 LTI - Performance
Rights 5/12/2014 577,777 0.21 121,333 30/06/2017 (12,133)
FY2015 LTI - Share
Appreciation Rights 5/12/2014 1,560,000 0.07 109,200 30/06/2017 36,400
FY2016 STI - Performance
Rights 18/11/2015 243,750 0.25 60,938 30/06/2016 40,609
FY2016 LTI - Performance
Rights 18/11/2015 487,500 0.25 121,875 30/06/2018 9,554
FY2016 LTI - Share
Appreciation Rights 18/11/2015 1,950,000 0.09 175,500 30/06/2018 58,500
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(j) Details of share based payments and performance against key metrics (continued)

(1) The value at grant date for share rights granted during the year as part of remuneration is calculated
in accordance with AASB 2 Share Based Payments. Differences will arise between the number of
share rights at fair value in the table above and the STI and LTI percentages mentioned in section (d)
due to different timing of valuation of rights as approved by the Remuneration Committee and at
grant. Refer to note 18 for details of the valuation techniques used for the rights plan.

(2) Share rights only vest if performance and service targets are achieved. The determination is usually
made at the conclusion of the statutory audit.

The number and percentage of share rights that vested and the number and percentage of share rights that
were forfeited relating to a performance period which ended during the current financial year are set out
below:

Name
Vesting

date

Number
of rights
granted

% of
share
rights
vested

Number
of share
rights
vested

% of
share
rights

forfeited

Number
of share
rights

forfeited
space

Executive Director
I Chalmers
FY2016 STI - Performance
rights 18/08/2016 281,249 68 191,249 32 90,000
Other Key Management
Personnel
N Earner
FY2016 STI - Performance
rights 18/08/2016 309,375 68 210,375 32 99,000
M Ball
FY2016 STI - Performance
rights 18/08/2016 243,750 68 165,750 32 78,000

The determination of the number of rights that are to vest or be forfeited is made by the Remuneration
Committee after the statutory audit has been substantially completed. As such, the actual determination was
made after the balance date however details have been included in the current Remuneration Report as the
relevant performance period is the current financial year.
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(j) Details of share based payments and performance against key metrics (continued)

Performance against key metrics

The STI performance metrics for the year are detailed in section (d)(iii) of the Remuneration Report. The
Remuneration Committee had determined that the STI for the Key Management Personnel for the financial
year ended 30 June 2016 be awarded as set out in the table below:

Performance category Performance metrics and assessed outcome Weighting Vested
Financial & operational Production and operating cost performance

targets for the Tomingley Gold Operations met
40% 40%

Growth Milestones relating to advancing the
development of the Dubbo Zirconia Project, with
one exception, not met in the required timeframe,
with satisfactory execution of the Board approved
exploration plan to develop existing resources

44% 12%

Sustainability Specific targets relating to the development of
and compliance with safety and environmental
management systems, and engagement with the
local community were met

16% 16%

(k) Shareholdings and share rights held by Key Management Personnel

The number of shares in the Company and share rights for ordinary shares in the Company held by each
Director and Key Management Personnel are set out below.

Share holdings

Number of ordinary shares

30 June 2016

Balance
at 1 July

2015
Purchased

/ (sold)

Received on
vesting of

share rights
(1)

Balance at
30 June

2016

Directors of Alkane Resources Ltd
Ordinary shares
J S F Dunlop 936,000 187,200 - 1,123,200
A D Lethlean 433,396 86,680 - 520,076
D I Chalmers 2,356,284 471,258 - 2,827,542
I J Gandel 91,557,875 18,311,576 - 109,869,451
Other Key Management Personnel
Ordinary shares
K E Brown 712,492 142,500 - 854,992

(1) Does not include rights that vested post balance date. Refer to section (j) of the Remuneration
Report for details.
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(k) Shareholdings and share rights held by Key Management Personnel (continued)

Share holdings (continued)

Number of ordinary shares

30 June 2015

Balance
at 1 July

2014
Purchased

/ (sold)

Received on
vesting of

share rights

Balance at
30 June

2015

Directors of Alkane Resources Ltd
Ordinary shares
J S F Dunlop 936,000 - - 936,000
A D Lethlean 433,396 - - 433,396
D I Chalmers 2,418,854 (62,570) - 2,356,284
I J Gandel 91,557,875 - - 91,557,875
Other Key Management Personnel
Ordinary shares
K E Brown 339,157 373,335 - 712,492
L A Colless 326,846 (326,846) - -
L A Colless & K E Brown joint interest 373,335 (373,335) - -

The shares previously held by L A Colless and K E Brown in joint interests are now 100% owned by K E
Brown as a result of the passing of L A Colless in the prior reporting period.

Share rights

Balance
at 1 July

2015
unvested

Rights
granted

Rights
vested

Rights
lapsed

Balance at
30 June

2016
unvested

Executive Director

D I Chalmers
Performance Rights 666,667 843,749 (191,249) (90,000) 1,229,167
Share Appreciation Rights 1,800,000 2,250,000 - - 4,050,000

Other Key Management Personnel
N Earner
Performance Rights 733,333 928,125 (210,375) (99,000) 1,352,083
Share Appreciation Rights 1,980,000 2,475,000 - - 4,455,000
M Ball
Performance Rights 577,777 731,250 (165,750) (78,000) 1,065,277

Share Appreciation Rights 1,560,000 1,950,000 - - 3,510,000

Total Performance Rights 1,977,777 2,503,124 (567,374) (267,000) 3,646,527

Total Share Appreciation
Rights 5,340,000 6,675,000 - - 12,015,000
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(k) Shareholdings and share rights held by Key Management Personnel (continued)

Share rights (continued)

Balance
at 1 July

2014
unvested

Rights
granted

Rights
vested

Rights
lapsed

Balance at
30 June

2015
unvested

Executive Directors

D I Chalmers
Performance Rights - 1,000,000 - (333,333) 666,667
Share Appreciation Rights - 1,800,000 - - 1,800,000

Other Key Management Personnel

N Earner
Performance Rights - 1,099,999 - (366,666) 733,333
Share Appreciation Rights - 1,980,000 - - 1,980,000
M Ball
Performance Rights - 866,665 - (288,888) 577,777
Share Appreciation Rights - 1,560,000 - - 1,560,000

Total Performance Rights - 2,966,664 - (988,887) 1,977,777
Total Share Appreciation
Rights - 5,340,000 - - 5,340,000

The determination of the number of rights that are to vest or be forfeited is made by the Remuneration
Committee after the statutory audit has been substantially completed. As such, the actual determination was
made after the balance date however details have been included in the current Remuneration Report as the
relevant performance period is the current financial year.

The information in this section has been audited with the rest of the remuneration report.

Indemnification and insurance of officers

Alkane Resources Ltd has entered into deeds of indemnity, access and insurance with each of the Directors.
These deeds remain in effect as at the date of this report. Under the deeds, the Company indemnifies each
Director to the maximum extent permitted by law against legal proceedings or claims made against or
incurred by the Directors in connection with being a Director of the Company, or breach by the Group of its
obligations under the deed.

The liability insured is the indemnification of the Group against any legal liability to third parties arising out of
any Directors or officers duties in their capacity as a Director or Officer other than indemnification not
permitted by law.

No liability has arisen under this indemnity as at the date of this report.

The Group has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified nor agreed to indemnify an
officer of the Group or of any related body corporate, against a liability incurred as such by an officer.

During the year the Company has paid premiums in respect of Directors' and Executive Officers' Insurance.
The contracts contain prohibitions on disclosure of the amount of the premiums and the nature of the liabilities
under the policies.
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Alkane Resources Ltd
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Year ended

Notes

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Continuing operations
Revenue 2 109,624 102,467
Cost of sales 3 (95,351) (101,366)
Gross profit 14,273 1,101

Other net income/(expense) 4 975 (654)

Expenses
Other expenses 3 (8,149) (8,211)
Finance charges (436) (373)

Total expenses (8,585) (8,584)

Profit/(Loss) before income tax 6,663 (8,137)

Income tax (expense)/benefit 5 (1,968) 4,051

Profit/(Loss) for the period after income tax 4,695 (4,086)

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the period 4,695 (4,086)

Total comprehensive profit/(loss) for the period is attributable to:
Owners of Alkane Resources Ltd 4,695 (4,086)

4,695 (4,086)

Profit/(Loss) is attributable to:
Owners of Alkane Resources Ltd 4,695 (4,086)

4,695 (4,086)

Cents Cents
Profit/(Loss) per share attributable to the
ordinary equity holders of the Company:
Basic profit/(loss) per share 20 1.1 (1.0)
Diluted profit/(loss) per share 20 1.1 (1.0)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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Alkane Resources Ltd
Consolidated balance sheet
As at 30 June 2016

Notes

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6(a) 24,455 14,849
Receivables 6(b) 1,720 1,988
Inventories 7(a) 12,394 11,505

Total current assets 38,569 28,342

Non-current assets
Exploration and evaluation 7(b) 72,553 65,251
Property, plant and equipment 7(c) 102,941 89,787
Other financial assets 6(d) 7,197 7,586

Total non-current assets 182,691 162,624

Total assets 221,260 190,966

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 6(e) 8,745 9,726
Provisions 7(d) 1,703 1,525

Total current liabilities 10,448 11,251

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 5(d) 4,747 2,484
Provisions 7(d) 15,755 6,781

Total non-current liabilities 20,502 9,265

Total liabilities 30,950 20,516

Net assets 190,310 170,450

EQUITY
Contributed equity 8(a) 213,791 201,845
Reserves 8(b) 3,933 714
Accumulated losses 8(c) (27,414) (32,109)

Total equity 190,310 170,450

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Alkane Resources Ltd
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Attributable to owners of Alkane Resources Ltd

Share
capital
$'000

Share-
based

payments
$'000

Accumulated
losses
$'000

Total
equity
$'000

Balance at 1 July 2014 202,243 - (28,023) 174,220

Loss for the year - - (4,086) (4,086)

Total comprehensive loss for the period - - (4,086) (4,086)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners:
Share issue transaction costs (3) - - (3)
Deferred tax credit recognised in equity (395) - - (395)
Share based payments - 714 - 714

(398) 714 - 316

Balance at 30 June 2015 201,845 714 (32,109) 170,450

Balance at 1 July 2015 201,845 714 (32,109) 170,450

Profit for the year - - 4,695 4,695

Total comprehensive profit for the period - - 4,695 4,695

Transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners:
Entitlement share issue 12,388 - - 12,388
Share issue transaction costs (147) - - (147)
Deferred tax credit recognised in equity (295) - - (295)
Share based payments - 3,219 - 3,219

Balance at 30 June 2016 213,791 3,933 (27,414) 190,310

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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Alkane Resources Ltd
Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Year ended

Notes

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 109,134 101,941
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (70,051) (71,222)
Interest received 490 526
Finance costs paid (248) (145)
Royalties and selling costs (2,819) (2,825)
Other receipts 980 332

Net cash inflow from operating activities 9(a) 37,486 28,607

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment (33,634) (18,103)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 26 -
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets - 4,001
Payments for exploration expenditure (6,789) (14,485)
Payments for security deposits (2,151) (4,010)
Refund of security deposits 2,541 3,160

Net cash outflow from investing activities (40,007) (29,437)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares 8(a) 12,388 -
Cost of share issue 8(a) (147) (3)
Proceeds from borrowings 4,000 165
Repayment of borrowings (4,114) (52)

Net cash inflow from financing activities 12,127 110

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 9,606 (720)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 14,849 15,569

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 6(a) 24,455 14,849

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Alkane Resources Ltd
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2016
(continued)

How numbers are calculated

This section provides additional information about those individual line items in the financial statements that
the directors consider most relevant in the context of the activities of the entity, including:

(a) accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial
statements. These cover situations where the accounting standards either allow a choice or do not deal
with a particular type of transaction.

(b) analysis and sub-totals, including segment information.
(c) information about estimates and judgements made in relation to particular items.

1 Segment information 32
2 Revenue 33
3 Expenses 34
4 Other income and expense items 35
5 Income tax 35
6 Financial assets and financial liabilities 38
7 Non-financial assets and liabilities 41
8 Equity 47
9 Cash flow information 49
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Alkane Resources Ltd
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2016
(continued)

1 Segment information

(a) Segment results

The Board of Alkane Resources Ltd has identified two reportable segments, being gold operations and the
exploration and evaluation of rare metals.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker that are used to make strategic decisions.

Costs that do not relate to either of the operating segments, have been identified as unallocated costs.
Corporate assets and liabilities that do not relate to either of the operating segments have been identified as
unallocated. The Group has formed a tax consolidation group and therefore tax balances have been allocated
to the unallocated grouping.

30 June 2016

Gold
operations

$'000

Rare
metals
$'000

Unallocated
$'000

Group
$'000

Gold sales to external customers 109,134 - - 109,134
Interest income 257 - 233 490
Total segment revenue 109,391 - 233 109,624

Segment net profit/(loss) before income tax 14,304 (264) (7,377) 6,663

Segment net profit/(loss) includes the
following non-cash adjustments
Depreciation and amortisation (29,929) - (260) (30,189)
Deferred stripping costs capitalised 15,740 - - 15,740
Exploration expenditure written off or provided
for - (17) (99) (116)
Inventory product movement and provision 424 - - 424
Income tax expense - - (1,968) (1,968)
Total non-cash adjustments (13,765) (17) (2,327) (16,109)

Total segment assets 110,964 93,207 17,089 221,260
Total segment liabilities (24,194) (1,014) (5,742) (30,950)

Net segment assets 86,770 92,193 11,347 190,310

30 June 2015

Gold
operations

$'000

Rare
metals
$'000

Unallocated
$'000

Group
$'000

Gold sales to external customers 101,941 - - 101,941
Interest income 338 - 188 526

Total segment revenue 102,279 - 188 102,467

Segment net profit/(loss) before income tax 589 (310) (8,416) (8,137)

32



Alkane Resources Ltd
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2016
(continued)

1 Segment information (continued)

(a) Segment results (continued)

30 June 2015

Gold
operations

$'000

Rare
metals
$'000

Unallocated
$'000

Group
$'000

Segment net profit / (loss) includes the
following non-cash adjustments :
Depreciation and amortisation (26,557) - (172) (26,729)
Deferred stripping costs capitalised 11,012 - - 11,012
Exploration expenditure written off or provided
for - - (1,071) (1,071)
Inventory product movement and provision (4,703) - - (4,703)
Income tax benefit - - 4,051 4,051

Total non-cash adjustments (20,248) - 2,808 (17,440)

Total segment assets 104,630 73,444 12,892 190,966
Total segment liabilities (16,151) (689) (3,676) (20,516)

Net segment assets 88,479 72,755 9,216 170,450

2 Revenue

Year ended
30 June

2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Revenue from continuing operations

Gold sales 109,134 101,941
space
Other revenue
Interest income 490 526

Total revenue 109,624 102,467

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The Group recognises
revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met where applicable.

(a) Gold Sales

Revenue from gold sales is recognised where there has been a transfer of risks and rewards from the Group
to an external party, no further processing is required by the Group, quality and quantity has been determined
with reasonable accuracy and collectability is probable.

(b) Interest Income

Interest is recognised as it is accrued using the effective interest method.
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3 Expenses

Year ended
30 June

2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Cost of sales
Cash costs of production 76,236 78,215
Deferred stripping costs capitalised (15,740) (11,012)
Inventory product movement (601) 2,857
Inventory product provision net realisable value 177 1,847
Depreciation and amortisation 29,929 26,557
Royalties and selling costs 3,251 2,902
Share based payments 2,099 -

95,351 101,366

Other expenses
Corporate administration 2,242 1,995
Employee remuneration and benefits expensed 2,172 2,395
Share based payments 1,120 272
Professional fees and consulting services 1,572 1,481
Exploration expenditure provided for or written off 116 1,071
Directors' fees and salaries expensed 580 704
Peak Hill site maintenance and rehabilitation 87 121
Depreciation 260 172

8,149 8,211

(a) Cash costs of production

Cash costs of production include ore and waste mining costs, processing costs and site administration and
support costs. Cash costs of production include $18,238,000 of employee remuneration and benefits (2015:
$17,026,000).

(b) Deferred stripping costs capitalised

Stripping costs capitalised represent the costs incurred in the development and production phase of a mine
and are capitalised as part of the cost of constructing the mine and subsequently amortised over the useful
life of the ore body that access is provided to on a units-of-production basis.

Refer to note 7(c)(i) for further detail on the Group's accounting policy for deferred stripping costs.

(c) Inventory product movement

Inventory product movement represents the movement in balance sheet inventory of ore stockpiles, gold in
circuit and bullion on hand.

Refer to note 7(a)(i) for further details on the Group's accounting policy for inventory.
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3 Expenses (continued)

(d) Inventory product provision for net realisable value

Inventories must be carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs to complete processing and to make
a sale. The net realisable value provision equals the decrement between the net realisable value and the
carrying value before provision.

Refer to note 7(a)(i) for further details on the Group's accounting policy for inventory.

4 Other income and expense items

(a) Other gains/(losses)

Year ended
30 June

2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Other net income/(expense)
Loss on sale of available-for-sale assets - (948)
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) 8 (8)
Loss on disposal of non-current assets (13) (33)
Other income 980 335

975 (654)

The other income includes the sale of water available under certain owned water licences of $211,000 (2015:
$168,000) as well as NSW government payroll tax rebate under the Job Actions Plan $587,000 (2015:
$24,000).

5 Income tax

(a) Income tax expense / (benefit)

Year ended
30 June

2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Current tax benefit - (630)
Deferred tax expense/(benefit) 1,968 (3,421)

Total income tax expense/(benefit) 1,968 (4,051)

The Group intends to lodge a research and development claim for activities performed during the year with
the income tax return. The tax balances (income tax expense and net deferred tax liability) in the financial
statements includes an estimation of the benefit for such a claim as the review of activities performed and
expenditures made has progressed sufficiently to allow a reliable estimate of the amount of the claim.
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5 Income tax (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of income tax expense/(benefit) to prima facie tax payable

Year ended
30 June

2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Profit/(Loss) before income tax expense 6,663 (8,137)
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30.0% (2015 - 30.0%) 1,999 (2,441)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable
income:
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (169) (690)
Tax benefits of deductible equity raising costs (339) (395)
Research and development tax incentive (526) (640)
Non-deductible share based payments 966 81
Other items 37 34

Subtotal (31) (1,610)

Income tax expense/(benefit) 1,968 (4,051)

(8,631) 12,188
(c) Deferred tax assets

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Tax losses 705 2,898
Research and development tax incentive 3,506 1,919
Capital raising and future blackhole deductions 144 436
Property, plant and equipment 10,828 10,148
Other 1,838 1,710
Total deferred tax assets 17,021 17,111
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off provisions (17,021) (17,111)

Net deferred tax assets - -

Movements

Tax
losses
$'000

Capital
raising

and
future

blackhole
deductions

$'000

Property,
plant
and

equipment
$'000

R&D tax
incentive
credits
$'000

Other
$'000

Total
$'000

At 1 July 2014 1,332 855 8,457 - 931 11,575
Charged/(credited)
- to profit or loss 1,566 (25) 1,691 1,919 780 5,931
- directly to equity - (395) - - - (395)

At 30 June 2015 2,898 435 10,148 1,919 1,711 17,111
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5 Income tax (continued)

(c) Deferred tax assets (continued)

Tax
losses

$'000

Capital
raising

and
future

blackhole
deductions

$'000

Property,
plant

and
equipment

$'000

R&D
tax

incentive
credits

$'000
Other
$'000

Total
$'000

At 1 July 2015 2,898 435 10,148 1,919 1,711 17,111
Charged/(credited)
- to profit or loss (2,193) 4 680 1,587 127 205
- directly to equity - (295) - - - (295)

At 30 June 2016 705 144 10,828 3,506 1,838 17,021

(d) Deferred tax liabilities

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Exploration expenditure (21,766) (19,575)
Other (2) (20)
Total deferred tax liabilities (21,768) (19,595)
Set-off of deferred tax assets 17,021 17,111

Net recognised deferred tax liabilities (4,747) (2,484)

Movements

Exploration
expenditure

$'000

Available-for-sale
financial
assets
$'000

Other
$'000

Total
$'000

At 1 July 2014 15,676 1,208 201 17,085
Charged/(credited)
- to profit or loss 3,899 (1,208) (181) 2,510

At 30 June 2015 19,575 - 20 19,595

At 1 July 2015 19,575 - 20 19,595
Charged/(credited)
- to profit or loss 2,191 - (18) 2,173

At 30 June 2016 21,766 - 2 21,768

(e) Deferred tax recognised directly in equity

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Relating to equity raising costs 295 395
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5 Income tax (continued)

(f) Tax losses

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 20,602 21,166

Potential tax benefit at 30.0% (2015: 30%) 6,181 6,350
Potential tax benefit of other unrecognised temporary differences at 30%
(2015: 30%) 44 -

The potential benefit of carried forward tax losses will only be obtained if taxable income is derived of a nature
and amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions to be realised. In accordance with the Group’s
policies for deferred taxes, a deferred tax asset is recognised only if it is probable that sufficient future taxable
income will be generated to offset against the asset.

Determination of future taxable profits requires estimates and assumptions as to future events and
circumstances including commodity prices, ore resources, exchange rates, future capital requirements, future
operational performance, the timing of estimated cash flows, the ability to successfully develop and
commercially exploit resources.

Tax legislation prescribes the rate at which tax losses transferred from entities joining a tax consolidation
group can be applied to taxable incomes and this rate is diluted by changes in ownership, including capital
raisings. As a result the reduction in the rate at which the losses can be applied to future taxable incomes, the
period of time over which it is forecast that these losses may be utilised has extended beyond that which
management considers prudent to support their continued recognition for accounting purposes. Accordingly
no deferred tax asset has been recognised for certain tax losses. Recognition for accounting purposes does
not impact the ability of the Group to utilise the losses to reduce future taxable profits.

Alkane Resources Ltd and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax
consolidation legislation. As a consequence, these entities are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax
assets and liabilities of these entities are set off in the consolidated financial statements.

6 Financial assets and financial liabilities

This note provides information about the Group's financial instruments, including:

• an overview of all financial instruments held by the Group;
• specific information about each type of financial instrument;
• accounting policies; and
• information about determining the fair value of the instruments, including judgements and estimation

uncertainty involved.

The financial assets are presented as current assets as management intends to dispose of them within 12
months of the end of the reporting period excluding other financial assets which are non current assets.
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6 Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Financial assets at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents 24,455 14,849
Receivables 273 353
Other financial assets 7,197 7,586

31,925 22,788

The receivables balance above excludes prepayments and tax receivable balances which do not meet the
definition of financial assets.

Notes

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade and other payables 6(e) 8,745 9,726

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Cash at bank and on hand 24,455 14,849

Cash at bank at balance date bore a weighted average interest rate of 0.9% (2015: 1.4%).

(i) Classification as cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions and other
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(b) Receivables

30 June
2016

30 June
2015

$'000 $'000

Prepayments 849 552
GST and fuel tax credit receivable 847 1,386
Other receivables 24 50

1,720 1,988
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(b) Receivables (continued)

(i) Classification as receivables

Other receivables generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group.
Collateral is not normally obtained.

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and then subsequently measured at amortised cost, less
provision for impairment. If collection of the amounts is expected in one year or less they are classified as
current assets, if not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are
written off. A provision for impairment is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not
be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

(ii) Fair value of receivables

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to be the same as
their fair value.

(iii) Impairment and risk exposure

Information about the impairment of receivables, their credit quality and the Group’s exposure to credit risk,
foreign currency risk and interest rate risk can be found in note 11.

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

Year ended
30 June

2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Listed equity securities
Opening balance at beginning of period - 4,945
Disposals during the period - (4,945)

Closing balance at end of period - -

(i) Classification of financial assets as available-for-sale

Investments are designated as available-for-sale financial assets if they do not have fixed maturities and fixed
or determinable payments. Financial assets that are not classified into any of the other categories (at fair
value through profit and loss, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments) are also included in the
available-for-sale category.

Movements in available-for-sale assets are recognised in other comprehensive income, except where assets
are deemed to be impaired, in which case they are recognised through profit and loss.

(d) Other financial assets

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Non-current assets
Interest bearing security deposits 7,197 7,586
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(d) Other financial assets (continued)

The above deposits are held by financial institutions or regulatory bodies as security for rehabilitation
obligations as required under the respective exploration and mining leases or as required under agreement.
In the prior year, $2,000,000 was provided to a financial institution as security for hedging facilities for
subsidiary Tomingley Gold Operations Pty Ltd. During the year a new hedging facility was secured and the
security was returned. Refer to note 21 for details of assets pledged as security.

All interest bearing security deposits are held in Australian dollars and therefore there is no exposure to
foreign currency risk. Please refer to note 11(a) for the Group's exposure to interest rate risk. The fair value of
other financial assets is equal to its carrying value.

(e) Trade and other payables

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Current liabilities
Trade payables 2,647 6,235
Other payables 6,098 3,491

8,745 9,726

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of
the financial period which are unpaid. Current trade and other payables are unsecured and are usually paid
within 30 days of recognition. Trade and other payables are presented in current liabilities unless payment is
not due within 12 months from the reporting date.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are assumed to be the same as their fair values, due to
their short-term nature.

Income tax payable does not meet the definition of a financial liability, however has been presented with other
payable balances in this table.

7 Non-financial assets and liabilities

This note provides information about the Group's non-financial assets and liabilities, including:

• specific information about each type of non-financial asset and non-financial liability
- inventories (note 7(a))
- exploration and evaluation (note 7(b))
- property, plant and equipment (note 7(c))
- provisions (note 7(d))

• accounting policies for the above assets and liabilities
• information about determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities, including judgements and

estimation uncertainty involved.
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(a) Inventories

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Current assets
Ore stockpiles 3,450 1,653
Gold in circuit 2,359 3,755
Bullion on hand 4,713 4,690
Consumable stores 1,872 1,407

12,394 11,505

(i) Assigning costs to inventories

The cost of individual items of inventory are determined using weighted average costs. Cost comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter
being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned to ore stockpiles, gold in circuit
and bullion on hand on the basis of weighted average costs. Inventories must be carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. At balance date ore stockpiles, gold in circuit and bullion on hand were carried at net
realisable value, with consumable stores carried at cost (2015: ore stockpiles, gold in circuit and bullion on
hand were carried at net realisable value, with consumable stores carried at cost).

A provision of $2,016,000 was recorded at 30 June 2016 to write down inventories to their recoverable value
(2015: $1,847,000). The movement in the provision of $169,000 (2015: $1,847,000) was recognised as an
expense during the year and included in çost of sales in the statement of comprehensive income.

Consumable stores include diesel, explosives and other consumables items.

(b) Exploration and evaluation

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Opening balance at beginning of period 65,251 53,406
Expenditure during the period 7,418 12,916
Amounts provided for or written off (116) (1,071)

Closing balance end of period 72,553 65,251

Exploration and evaluation costs are carried forward on an area of interest basis. Costs are recognised and
carried forward where rights to tenure of the area of interest are current and either:

• the expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the
area of interest; or

• activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date, reached a stage which permits a
reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and
active and significant exploration and evaluation activities in, or in relation to, the area of interest are
continuing.
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(b) Exploration and evaluation (continued)

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when reclassified to development tangible or
intangible assets, or whenever facts or circumstances indicate impairment. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the exploration and evaluation assets carrying amount exceeds their recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the exploration and evaluation assets fair value less costs to
sell and their value in use.

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of
interest are demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first tested
for impairment and then reclassified to mine properties under development. No amortisation is charged during
the exploration and evaluation phase.

Recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on successful
development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest.

There may exist, on the Group's exploration properties, areas subject to claim under native title or containing
sacred sites or sites of significance to Aboriginal people. As a result, exploration properties or areas within
tenements may be subject to exploration or mining restrictions.

(c) Property, plant and equipment

Year ended 30 June 2016

Land and
buildings

$'000

Plant and
equipment

$'000

Capital
WIP

$'000

Mine
properties

$'000
Total
$'000

Opening cost 25,660 70,006 819 83,011 179,496

Additions - - 17,196 26,186 43,382
Transfers between classes 13,956 2,266 (17,307) 1,085 -
Disposals - (68) - - (68)

Net movement 13,956 2,198 (111) 27,271 43,314

Closing cost 39,616 72,204 708 110,282 222,810

Land and
buildings

$'000

Plant &
Equipment

$'000

Capital
WIP

$'000

Mine
properties

$'000
Total
$'000

Opening accumulated
depreciation and impairment (6,072) (35,752) - (47,885) (89,709)

Depreciation charge (1,589) (9,953) - (18,647) (30,189)
Disposals - 29 - - 29

Net movement (1,589) (9,924) - (18,647) (30,160)

Closing accumulated
depreciation and impairment (7,661) (45,676) - (66,532) (119,869)

Closing net carrying value 31,955 26,528 708 43,750 102,941
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(c) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Year ended 30 June 2015

Land and
buildings

$'000

Plant and
equipment

$'000

Capital
WIP

$'000

Mine
properties

$'000
Total
$'000

Opening cost 24,737 67,449 458 70,373 163,017

Additions 523 132 4,688 11,189 16,532
Disposals - (53) - - (53)
Transfers between classes 400 2,478 (4,327) 1,449 -

Net movement 923 2,557 361 12,638 16,479

Closing cost 25,660 70,006 819 83,011 179,496

Opening accumulated
depreciation and impairment (4,310) (25,019) - (33,656) (62,985)

Depreciation charge (1,762) (10,738) - (14,229) (26,729)
Disposals - 5 - - 5

Net movement (1,762) (10,733) - (14,229) (26,724)

Closing accumulated
depreciation and impairment (6,072) (35,752) - (47,885) (89,709)

Closing net carrying value 19,588 34,254 819 35,126 89,787

All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
charges. Historical cost includes:

• expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items;
• direct costs associated with the commissioning of plant and equipment including pre-commissioning

costs in testing the processing plant;
• where the asset has been constructed by the Group, the cost of all materials used in construction,

direct labour on the project and project management costs associated with the asset; and
• the present value of the estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site

on which it is located.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted
for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. Depreciation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost over their estimated useful lives as follows:

aa Buildings units of production
Plant and equipment units of production
Mining properties units of production
Office equipment 3 - 5 years
Furniture and fittings 4 years
Motor vehicles 4 - 5 years
Software 2 - 3 years
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(c) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are
included in the statement of comprehensive income.

(i) Deferred stripping costs capitalised

Overburden and other mine waste materials removed during the initial development of an open pit mine in
order to access the mineral deposit is referred to as development stripping. Costs directly attributable to
development stripping inclusive of an allocation of relevant overhead expenditure, are capitalised as a
non-current asset in mine properties. Capitalisation of development stripping costs cease at the time that ore
begins to be extracted from the mine. Development stripping costs are amortised over the useful life of the
ore body that access has been provided to on a units of production basis.

Production stripping commences at the time that ore begins to be extracted from the mine and normally
continues throughout the life of a mine. The costs of production stripping are charged to the income statement
as operating costs, when the current ratio of waste material to ore extracted for a component of the ore body
is below the expected stripping ratio of that component. When the ratio of waste to ore is not expected to be
constant, production stripping costs are accounted for as follows:

• all costs are initially charged to profit or loss and classified as operating costs;
• when the current ratio of waste to ore is greater than the estimated ratio of a component of the ore

body, a portion of the stripping costs, inclusive of an allocation of relevant overhead expenditure, is
capitalised to mine properties; and

• the capitalised stripping asset is amortised over the useful life of the ore body to which access has
been improved.

The amount of production stripping costs capitalised or charged in a reporting period is determined so that the
stripping expense for the period reflects the estimated strip ratio of the ore component. Changes to the
estimated waste to ore ratio of a component of the ore body are accounted for prospectively from the date of
change. Deferred stripping capitalised is included in mine properties.

(ii) Mine properties

Mine properties represent the accumulation of all exploration, evaluation and development expenditure
incurred by the Group in relation to areas of interest for which the technical feasibility and commercial viability
of the extraction of mineral resources are demonstrable.

When further development expenditure is incurred in respect of a mine property after the commencement of
production, such expenditure is carried forward as part of the mine property only when it is probable that the
additional future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group. Otherwise such
expenditure is classified as part of the cost of production. Mine properties are amortised on a units of
production basis over the economically recoverable resources of the mine concerned. The unit of account is
tonnes milled for mine properties other than capitalised deferred stripping costs (refer note 7(c)(i)).

Refer to note 23 for the Group's accounting policy in relation to impairment of non-current assets.
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(d) Provisions

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
Current

$'000
Non-current

$'000
Total
$'000

Current
$'000

Non-current
$'000

Total
$'000

Employee benefits 1,703 422 2,125 1,525 229 1,754
Rehabilitation - 15,333 15,333 - 6,552 6,552

1,703 15,755 17,458 1,525 6,781 8,306

(i) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the
present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised in finance
charges.

(ii) Information about individual provisions and significant estimates

Employee benefits

The provision for employee benefits relates to the Group's liability for long service leave and annual leave.

The current provision represents amounts for annual leave that are expected to be settled within 12 months of
the end of the period in which the employees render the related service in respect of employees' services up
to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Vested long service leave for which the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement,
regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur is presented in current provisions.

The liability for long service leave not expected to vest within 12 months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service is recognised in the non-current provision for employee benefits and
measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided up to
the end of the reporting period. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience
of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields
at the end of the reporting period on corporate bonds with terms and currencies that match as closely as
possible, the estimated future cash outflows. Where the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement for any annual or long service leave owed, it is classified as a current provision regardless of when
the Group expects to realise the provision.

Rehabilitation and mine closure

The Group has obligations to dismantle and remove certain items of property, plant and equipment and to
restore and rehabilitate the land on which they sit.

A provision is raised for the estimated cost of settling the rehabilitation and restoration obligations existing at
balance date, discounted to present value using an appropriate pre-tax discount rate.

Where the obligation is related to an item of property, plant and equipment, its cost includes the present value
of the estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site on which it is located.
Costs that relate to obligations arising from waste created by the production process are recognised as
production costs in the period in which they arise.
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7 Non-financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(d) Provisions (continued)

The discounted value reflects a combination of management's assessment of the nature and extent of the
work required, the future cost of performing the work required, the timing of cash flows and the discount rate.
The increase in the provision due to the passage of time of $188,000 (2015: $229,000) was recognised in
finance charges in the statement of comprehensive income.

The provisions are reassessed at least annually. A change in any of the assumptions used to determine the
provisions could have a material impact on the carrying value of the provision.

(iii) Movements in provisions

Movements in rehabilitation and mine closure provisions during the financial year are set out below:

Rehabilitation and mine closure

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Carrying amount at the start of the year 6,552 6,418
Amounts utilised during the year (1,113) (88)
Additional provision incurred 8,011 -
Unwinding of discount 188 229
Change in estimate 1,695 (7)

Carrying amount at end of period 15,333 6,552

8 Equity

(a) Contributed equity

Notes

30 June
2016

Shares

30 June
2015

Shares

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Ordinary shares - fully paid 8(a)(ii) 476,159,490 414,218,670 213,791 201,845

(ii) Movements in ordinary share capital

Details Number of
shares $'000

Opening balance 1 July 2014 412,639,000 202,243
Employee share scheme issue 1,579,670 -

414,218,670 202,243
Less: Transaction costs arising on share issue - (3)
Deferred tax credit recognised directly in equity - (395)
Balance 30 June 2015 414,218,670 201,845

Opening balance 1 July 2015 414,218,670 201,845
Entitlement share issue 61,940,820 12,388

476,159,490 214,233
Less: Transaction costs arising on share issue - (147)
Deferred tax credit recognised directly in equity - (295)
Balance 30 June 2016 476,159,490 213,791
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8 Equity (continued)

(a) Contributed equity (continued)

During the year the Company undertook a one for five non-renounceable entitlement issue at an issue price
of $0.20 per new share. The offer closed on 23 May 2016 raising $12,388,000 (before costs) and resulting in
the issue of 61,940,820 new shares. The shortfall of 20,707,196 shares was placed to a number of
institutional and professional investors on 7 July 2016 raising $4,141,000 (before costs).

(iii) Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company
in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.

Every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a
poll each share is entitled to one vote. Ordinary shares have no par value.

(b) Reserves

Share-based payments

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise:
• the grant date fair value of shares issued to employees
• the grant date fair value of deferred rights granted to employees but not yet vested

(c) Accumulated losses

Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Opening balance (32,109) (28,023)
Net profit/(loss) for the period 4,695 (4,086)

Closing balance (27,414) (32,109)
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9 Cash flow information

(a) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax to net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating
activities

Year ended
30 June

2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Profit/(loss) after tax 4,695 (4,086)

Depreciation and amortisation 30,189 26,729
Non-cash finance charges 188 212
Share-based payments 3,219 272
Net loss on disposal of non-current assets 13 33
Net loss on sale of available-for-sale financial assets - 948
Exploration costs provided for or written off 116 1,071
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) / decrease in trade and other receivables (130) 2,384
(Increase) / decrease in inventories (889) 3,885
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (2,253) 537
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax balances 1,968 (4,051)
Increase in provisions 370 673

Net cash inflow from operating activities 37,486 28,607
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Risk

This section of the notes discusses the Group’s exposure to various risks and shows how these could affect
the Group’s financial position and performance.

10 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 51
11 Financial risk management 52
12 Capital risk management 54
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10 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will
seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

(a) Carrying value of non-current assets

Non-current assets include capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditures and mine properties. The
Group has capitalised significant exploration and evaluation expenditure on the basis either that such
expenditure is expected to be recouped through future successful development (or alternatively sale) of the
areas of interest concerned or on the basis that it is not yet possible to assess whether it will be recouped and
activities are planned to enable that determination.

The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of
factors, including whether the Group decides to exploit the related lease itself, or, if not, whether it
successfully recovers the related exploration asset through sale. The future recoverability of mine properties
is dependent on the generation of sufficient future cash flows from operations (or alternately sale). Factors
that could impact the future recoverability of exploration and evaluation and mine properties include the level
of reserves and resources, future technological changes, costs of drilling and production, production rates,
future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity
prices and exchange rates.

Estimates of recoverable quantities of resources and reserves also include assumptions requiring significant
judgment as detailed in the resource and reserve statements.

(b) Impairment of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure and mine properties

The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of
factors, including whether the Group decides to exploit the related lease itself, or, if not, whether it
successfully recovers the related exploration asset through sale.

Factors that could impact the future recoverability of exploration and evaluation and mine properties include
the level of reserves and resources, future technological change, costs of drilling and production, production
rates, future legal changes (including changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to
commodity prices.

The Group has not recorded an impairment charge against exploration and evaluation expenditure in the
current year (2015: nil).

(c) Rehabilitation and mine closure provisions

These provisions represent the discounted value of the present obligation to restore, dismantle and
rehabilitate certain items of property, plant and equipment and to rehabilitate exploration and mining leases.
The discounted value reflects a combination of management's assessment of the nature and extent of the
work required, the future cost of performing the work required, the timing of cash flows and the discount rate.
Changes to one or more of these assumptions is likely to result in a change to the carrying value of the
provision and the related asset or a change to profit and loss in accordance with the Group's accounting
policy stated in note 7(d)(ii).

(d) Net realisable value and classification of inventory

The Group's assessment of the net realisable value and classification of its inventory requires the use of
estimates, including the estimation of the relevant future commodity or product price, future processing costs
and the likely timing of sale.
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10 Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

(e) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Australia. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and calculations undertaken during the ordinary
course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group estimates its tax liabilities
based on the Group's understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.

In addition, the Group has recognised deferred tax assets relating to carried forward tax losses to the extent
there are sufficient taxable temporary differences (deferred tax liabilities) relating to the same taxation
authority and the same subsidiary against which the unused tax losses can be utilised. Utilisation of the tax
losses also depends on the ability of the entity to satisfy certain tests at the time the losses are recouped.
Refer to note 5(f) and 5(c) for the current recognition of tax losses.

(f) Share based payments

The Group measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of
the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value for share appreciation rights is
determined with the assistance of an external valuer. The number of performance rights issued under the long
term incentive plan are adjusted to reflect management’s assessment of the probability of meeting the targets
and service condition. The related assumptions are set out in note 18. The accounting estimates and
assumptions relating to equity settled share based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact expenses and equity.

11 Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
equity price risk, commodity price risk and interest risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses derivative financial instruments
such as gold forward contracts to mitigate certain risk exposures.

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.

The Board of Directors' has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management
framework. Management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group
through regular reviews of the risks and mitigating strategies.

(a) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, equity prices,
commodity prices and interest rates will affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financial
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group's sales revenue for gold is denominated in US dollars and the majority of operating costs are
denominated in Australian dollars, hence the Group's cash flow is significantly exposed to movement in the
A$:US$ exchange rate. The Group mitigates this risk through the use of derivative instruments, including but
not limited to Australian dollar denominated gold forward contracts.

These Australian dollar denominated gold forward contracts are entered into and continue to be held for the
purpose of physical delivery of gold bullion. As a result, the contracts are not recorded in the financial
statements. Refer to note 13(a) for further information.
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11 Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Commodity price risk

The Group's sales revenues are generated from the sale of gold. Accordingly, the Group's revenues are
exposed to commodity price fluctuations, primarily gold. The Group mitigates this risk through the use of
derivative instruments, including but not limited to Australian dollar denominated gold forward contracts.

(iii) Interest rate risk

The Group's main interest rate risk arises through its cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets
held within financial institutions. The Group minimises this risk by utilising fixed rate instruments where
appropriate.

Summarised market risk sensitivity analysis

Interest rate risk

Impact on profit after tax

30 June 2016 30 June 2015
Carrying
amount

$'000
+100BP

$'000
-100BP
$'000

Carrying
Amount
$'000

+100BP
$'000

-100BP
$'000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 24,455 171 (171) 14,849 104 (104)
Receivables * 273 - - 353 - -
Other financial assets 7,197 50 (50) 7,586 53 (53)
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (8,745) - - (9,725) - -

Total increase / (decrease) 221 (221) 13,063 157 (157)

* The receivables balance excludes prepayments and tax balances which do not meet the definition of
financial assets or liabilities.

There is no exposure to foreign exchange risk or commodity price risk for the above financial assets and
liabilities.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as
credit exposure to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions.

(i) Risk management

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk in relation to cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets
by only utilising banks and financial institutions with acceptable credit ratings.

(ii) Credit quality

Tax receivables and prepayments do not meet the definition of financial assets. None of the Group's
receivables were past due or impaired at balance date.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial liabilities as they fall due. The
Group's approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. The Board of Directors' monitors liquidity
levels on an ongoing basis.
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11 Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group's financial liabilities generally mature within 3 months, therefore the carrying amount equals the
cash flow required to settle the liability.

12 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern, so
that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may return capital to shareholders, pay dividends to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets.
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Unrecognised items

This section of the notes provides information about items that are not recognised in the financial statements
as they do not (yet) satisfy the recognition criteria.

13 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 56
14 Commitments 56
15 Events occurring after the reporting period 57
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13 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

(a) Contingent liabilities

The Group has contingent liabilities estimated at up to $3,400,000 for the potential acquisition of several
parcels of land surrounding the Dubbo Zirconia Project (2015: $200,000). The landholders have the right to
require subsidiary Australian Zirconia Limited to acquire their property as provided for in the development
consent conditions for the Dubbo Zirconia Project or under agreement with Australia Zirconia Limited.

The Group has entered into forward gold sales contracts which are not accounted for on the balance sheet. A
contingent liability of $7,074,000 (2015: contingent asset $1,028,000) existed at the balance date in the event
that the contracts are not settled by the physical delivery of gold.

At balance date the Group had issued gold call options for 12,000 ounces of gold at an average strike price of
$1,771 per ounce expiring in equal portions in December 2017 and March 2018. A contingent liability of
$2,230,000 existed at the balance date in the event that the contracts are not settled by the physical delivery
of gold.

(b) Contingent assets

There were no contingent assets at 30 June 2016 (2015: $1,028,000).

14 Commitments

(a) Exploration and mining lease commitments

In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration and mining tenements, the Group will be required to
outlay the amounts disclosed in the below table. These costs are discretionary, however if the expenditure
commitments are not met then the associated exploration and mining leases may be relinquished.

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Within one year 1,373 1,542

(b) Non-cancellable operating leases

The Group leases various offices under operating leases. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses
and renewal rights. On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated.

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Within one year 358 325
Later than one year but not later than five years - 290

358 615
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14 Commitments (continued)

(c) Physical gold delivery commitments

As part of its risk management policy, the Group enters into gold forward contracts to manage the gold price
of a proportion of anticipated sales of gold. During the year as part of the financing arrangement with
Macquarie Bank Limited, the Group entered into two gold call option contracts totalling 12,000 ounces.

The gold forward and option contracts disclosed below did not meet the criteria of financial instruments for
accounting purposes on the basis that they met the normal purchase / sale exemption because physical gold
would be delivered into the contract. Accordingly, the contracts were accounted for as sale contracts with
revenue recognised in the period in which the gold commitment was met.

Gold for
physical
delivery
Ounces

Contracted
gold sale

price
per ounce

($)

Value of
committed

sales
$'000

30 June 2016
Fixed forward contracts
Within one year 50,900 1,683 85,680
Later than one year but not later than five years 13,000 1,715 22,300
Total 63,900 3,398 107,980

Gold call options
Later than one year but not later than five years 12,000 1,771 21,252
Total 12,000 1,771 21,252

30 June 2015
Fixed forward contracts
Within one year 24,000 1,577 37,848

(d) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities amounted
to $1,435,000 (2015: $632,000).

15 Events occurring after the reporting period

Subsequent to year end the Group finalised the shortfall placement of the one for five share entitlement issue.
Please refer to the significant changes in the state of affairs for more details.

The Group entered into a $14,000,000 working capital facility with Macquarie Bank Limited comprising project
loan facility, performance bond facility and hedging facility. Facility documentation was completed in early July
allowing for draw down on loan and bond facilities.

The Group entered into an exclusive marketing and sales agreement with Minchem Ltd in August. Refer to
the Review of Operations report for more details.

No other matter or circumstance has occurred subsequent to period end that has significantly affected, or
may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of
the Group in subsequent financial years.
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Other information

This section of the notes includes other information that must be disclosed to comply with the accounting
standards and other pronouncements, but that is not immediately related to individual line items in the
financial statements.

16 Interests in other entities 59
17 Related party transactions 59
18 Share-based payments 60
19 Remuneration of auditors 63
20 Earnings per share 63
21 Assets pledged as security 63
22 Parent entity financial information 65
23 Summary of significant accounting policies 66
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16 Interests in other entities

The Group’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2016 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital
consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The country of incorporation or registration is also
their principal place of business.

Name of entity
State / country of

incorporation
Ownership interest
held by the group
2016

%
2015

%

Australian Zirconia Holdings Pty Ltd Western Australia 100 100
Australian Zirconia Limited Western Australia 100 100
Tomingley Holdings Pty Ltd New South Wales 100 100
Tomingley Gold Operations Pty Ltd New South Wales 100 100
Toongi Pastoral Company Pty Ltd New South Wales 100 -

The Group established Toongi Pastoral Company Pty Ltd on 10 March 2016 to manage the residual land
acquired for the Dubbo Zirconia Project.

17 Related party transactions

(a) Parent entities

The Parent Entity within the Group is Alkane Resources Ltd.

(b) Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 16.

(c) Key Management Personnel compensation

Year ended
30 June

2016
$

30 June
2015

$

Short-term employee benefits 1,716,852 1,701,339
Post-employment benefits 128,355 128,354
Share-based payments 455,030 193,822

2,300,237 2,023,515

Disclosures relating to Key Management Personnel are set out in the remuneration report.

Ms K E Brown is associated with Mineral Administration Services Pty Ltd, a Company which provides
corporate administration, accounting and Company Secretarial Services to the Group. This fee is disclosed as
short term employee benefits in the remuneration report.

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report.
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17 Related party transactions (continued)

(d) Transactions with other related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Nuclear IT, a Director related entity, provides information technology consulting services to the Group which
includes the coordination of the purchase of information technology hardware and software for the current
year of $89,000 (2015: $88,000) . The terms are documented in a Service Level Agreement and represent
normal commercial terms and conditions.

During the period fees amounting to $302,229 (2015: $316,925) were paid to Mineral Administration Services
(MAS) in which the company secretary of the Group, Ms K E Brown has a substantial financial interest. MAS
provides administration, accounting and company secretarial services to the Group.

(e) Related party payables

There were $29,643 worth of invoices outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions
with related parties (2015: $69,800).

18 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Group's incentive plans. The incentive
plans consist of the short term and long term incentive plans for Executive Directors and other Executives and
the employee share scheme for all other employees. Information relating to these plans is set out in the
remuneration report and below.

The fair value of rights granted under the short term and long term incentive plans is recognised as an
employee benefits expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the rights granted, which includes any market performance
conditions and the impact of any non-vesting conditions but excludes the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions.

Non-market vesting conditions and the impact of service conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of rights that are expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the
entity revises its estimates of the number of rights that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in statement of
comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The initial estimate of fair value for market based and non-vesting conditions is not subsequently adjusted for
differences between the number of rights granted and number of rights that vest.

When the rights are exercised, the appropriate amount of shares are transferred to the employee. The
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited directly to equity.

Under the employee share scheme, shares issued by the Group to employees for no cash consideration vest
immediately on grant date. On this date, the market value of the shares issued is recognised as an employee
benefits expense with a corresponding increase in equity.

The fair value of deferred shares granted to employees for nil consideration under the employee share
scheme is recognised as an expense over the relevant service period, being the year to which the incentive
relates and the vesting period of the shares. The fair value is measured at the grant date of the shares and is
recognised in equity in the share-based payment reserve. The number of shares expected to vest is
estimated based on the non-market vesting conditions. The estimates are revised at the end of each reporting
period and adjustments are recognised in profit or loss and the share-based payment reserve.
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18 Share-based payments (continued)

Executive Directors and other Executives

The Company’s remuneration framework is set out in the remuneration report, including all details of the
performance rights and share appreciation rights plans, the associated performance hurdles and vesting
criteria.

Participation in the plans is at the discretion of the Board of Directors and no individual has a contractual right
to participate in the plans or to receive any guaranteed benefits. Participation is current restricted to senior
Executives within the Group.

The following tables illustrate the number and weighted average fair value of, and movements in, share rights
during the year.

2016 2015

Performance Rights

Number of
share
rights

Weighted
average fair

value
$

Number of
share rights

Weighted
average fair

value

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 3,907,405 0.21 - -
Issued during the year 4,945,307 0.25 5,861,105 0.21
Vested during the year (1,232,047) 0.25 - -
Lapsed during the year (445,417) 0.25 (1,953,700) 0.21

Outstanding at the end of the year 7,204,278 0.23 3,907,405 0.21

The determination of the number of rights that are to vest or be forfeited is made by the Remuneration
Committee after the statutory audit has been substantially completed. As such, the actual determination was
made after the balance date however details have been included in the table above as the relevant
performance period is the current financial year.

The fair value of each performance right at the time of the valuation performed for Remuneration Committee
approval when the number of rights to be granted was determined, being the VWAP for June 2015, was $0.32
(2015: $0.27 VWAP for June 2014).

2016 2015

Share Appreciation Rights

Number of
share
rights

Weighted
average fair

value
$

Number of
share
rights

Weighted
average fair

value
$

Opening balance 10,550,000 0.07 - -
Issued during the year 13,187,499 0.09 10,550,000 0.07

Outstanding at the end of the year 23,737,499 0.08 10,550,000 0.07

The fair value of each share appreciation right at the time of the valuation performed for Remuneration
Committee approval when the number of rights to be granted was determined, being as at 7 August 2015,
was $0.08 (2015: $0.10 as at 14 August 2014).
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18 Share-based payments (continued)

The Performance Rights, which have non-market based hurdle conditions, have been valued using the
Black-Scholes-Merton model to estimate the fair value at valuation date.

The Share Appreciation Rights, which have market based hurdle conditions, have been valued using a Monte
Carlo simulation based model to test the likelihood of attaining the Total Shareholder Return hurdle. The
Monte Carlo model incorporates the impact of this market based condition on the fair value of the rights.

The following table lists the inputs to the models used.

Grant date
Performance

Hurdle
Dividend

yield

Expected
stock

volatility
Risk free

rate
Expected
life years

Weighted
average

share price
at grant

date
% % % $

Space

5/12/2014
TSR and

Non-Market - 65 2.60 2.57 0.07

18/11/2015
TSR and

Non-Market - 70 2.25 2.62 0.09

Expenses arising from share based payments transactions

Year ended
30 June

2016
$

30 June
2015

$

Employee share scheme 2,576,338 -
Share appreciation rights 641,792 272,000

3,218,130 272,000
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19 Remuneration of auditors

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Parent
Entity, its related practices and non-related audit firms:

PricewaterhouseCoopers

(i) Audit and other assurance services

Year ended
30 June

2016
$

30 June
2015

$

Audit of annual financial statements 115,600 98,900
Review of half year financial statements 35,950 34,900
Other assurance services 42,875 17,920

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services 194,425 151,720

(ii) Other services

Other services 3,500 -

Total remuneration for other services 3,500 -

20 Earnings per share

(a) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

Year ended
2016

Number
2015

Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in denominator
in calculating basic profit/(loss) per share 420,783,944 413,539,195

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the
denominator in calculating diluted profit/(loss) per share 424,809,827 416,215,672

21 Assets pledged as security

As at the date of this report $7,197,000 (2015: $7,586,000) in deposits has been provided as security. Refer
to note 6(d) for details.

As mentioned in the Directors Report, in early July 2016 subsidiary Tomingley Gold Operations Pty Ltd
completed the establishment of a working capital facility for $14,000,000 with Macquarie Bank Limited. The
facility comprises:

• a loan facility of $7,000,000 repayable by 30 June 2017;
• a performance bond facility of $7,000,000 repayable by 29 September 2017; and
• hedging facilities comprised of A$ gold forward facility and 12,000 ounces of A$ call options.
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21 Assets pledged as security (continued)

The hedging facility was entered into during the year ended 30 June 2016 as a condition precedent to the
finalisation of the working capital facilities and at balance date the following securities were provided:

• a combination security agreement providing security over all of the assets of Tomingley Holdings Pty
Ltd and Tomingley Gold Operations Pty Ltd;

• a first ranking registered mining mortgage over the Tomingley Mining Lease in accordance with the
Mining Act 1992 (NSW);

• land mortgages and a water rights mortgage over the holdings of Tomingley Gold Operations Pty Ltd;
and

• a guarantee provided by Alkane Resources Ltd and Tomingley Holdings Pty Ltd.

As a result of securing the Macquarie Bank facilities, the Group repaid in full the $4,000,000 working capital
facility noted in the half year financial report.

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Cash and cash equivalents 14,571 -
Receivables 972 -
Inventories 12,394 -

Total current assets pledged as security 27,937 -

Non-current
Combination security agreement
Plant and equipment 75,939 -

Total non-current assets pledged as security 75,939 -

Total assets pledged as security 103,876 -
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22 Parent entity financial information

(a) Summary financial information

The individual financial statements for the Parent Entity show the following aggregate amounts:

30 June
2016
$'000

30 June
2015
$'000

Balance sheet
Current assets 10,086 6,963
Non-current assets 181,213 164,383

Total assets 191,299 171,346

Current liabilities (807) (1,065)
Non-current liabilities (181) (128)

Total liabilities (988) (1,193)

Shareholders' equity
Issued capital 213,791 201,845
Reserves 1,582 463
Accumulated losses (25,062) (32,155)

Total equity 190,311 170,153

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Profit/(loss) for the period after income tax 7,092 (858)
Other comprehensive loss (1,119) (463)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 5,973 (1,321)

The parent entity provided a guarantee in respect of the working capital facilities entered into by subsidiary
Tomingley Gold Operations Pty Ltd. Refer to note 21 for details.

(b) Determining the parent entity financial information

The financial information for the parent entity has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated
financial statements, except as set out below.

(i) Tax consolidation legislation

Alkane Resources Ltd and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax
consolidation legislation. Refer to note 5 for further detail.

(ii) Share-based payments rights

The grant by the company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution to that subsidiary undertaking. The fair value of employee
services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity.
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23 Summary of significant accounting policies

This note provides a list of all significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that have not been disclosed previously. The policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the Group consisting of
Alkane Resources Ltd and its subsidiaries. Comparatives presented are for the 12 month period to 30 June
2015.

(a) Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act
2001. Alkane Resources Ltd is considered a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial
statements.

(i) Compliance with IFRS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group also comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

(ii) Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis, except for certain financial
assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value.

(b) Principles of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity
and balance sheet respectively.

(c) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Alkane Resources Ltd's functional and
presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in statement of comprehensive income.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on a net basis within other income or other expenses.
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(d) Investments and other financial assets

(i) Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a 'loss event') and that loss event (or events) has
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be
reliably estimated.

The Group has assessed there is no requirement to impair for the current year.

(e) Earnings per share

(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

• the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares; and

• by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:

• the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

• the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(f) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in
the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as
operating cash flows.

(g) Rounding of amounts

The Company has relied on the relief provided by the 'ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors'
Report) Instrument 2016/191', relating to the 'rounding off' of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in
the financial statements have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the
nearest dollar.

(h) Parent entity financial information

The financial information for the Parent Entity, Alkane Resources Ltd, disclosed in note 22 has been prepared
on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as set out below.
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(h) Parent entity financial information (continued)

(i) Tax consolidation legislation

Alkane Resources Ltd and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax
consolidation legislation.

The head entity, Alkane Resources Ltd, and the controlled entities in the Tax Consolidated Group account for
their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the Tax
Consolidated Group continues to be a stand alone taxpayer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Alkane Resources Ltd also recognises the current tax
liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits
assumed from controlled entities in the Tax Consolidated Group.

The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the wholly-owned entities fully
compensate Alkane Resources Ltd for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by Alkane
Resources Ltd for any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused
tax credits that are transferred to Alkane Resources Ltd under the tax consolidation legislation. The funding
amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly-owned entities financial
statements.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as
current amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group.

(i) New accounting standards and interpretations

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30
June 2016 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group's assessment of the
impact of these new standards and interpretations is set out below.

Title of
standard

Nature of change Impact Mandatory
application
date/Date of
adoption by
Group

AASB 9
Financial
Instruments

AASB 9
addresses the
classification,
measurement and
derecognition of
financial assets
and financial
liabilities and
introduces new
rules for hedge
accounting and
new impairment
model for financial
assets.

The Group does not expect any impact
from the new classification,
measurement and derecognition rules on
the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities. There will also be no impact on
the Group’s accounting for financial
liabilities, as the new requirements only
affect the accounting for financial
liabilities that are designated at fair value
through profit or loss and the Group does
not have any such liabilities. The new
hedging rules align hedge accounting
more closely with the Group’s risk
management practices. As a general rule
it will be easier to apply hedge
accounting going forward as the
standard introduces a more
principles-based approach. The new
standard also introduces expanded
disclosure requirements and changes in
presentation.

Must be applied for
financial years
commencing on or
after 1 January
2018. Based on the
transitional
provisions in the
completed AASB 9,
early adoption in
phases was only
permitted for
annual reporting
periods beginning
before 1 February
2015. After that
date, the new rules
must be adopted in
their entirety.
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(i) New accounting standards and interpretations (continued)

Title of
standard

Nature of change Impact Mandatory
application
date/Date of
adoption by
Group

AASB 15
Revenue
from
Contracts
with
Customers

The AASB has issued a new standard for
the recognition of revenue. This will replace
AASB 118 which covers contracts for
goods and services and AASB 111 which
covers construction contracts. The new
standard is based on the principle that
revenue is recognised when control of a
good or service transfers to a customer –
so the notion of control replaces the
existing notion of risks and rewards. The
standard permits a modified retrospective
approach for the adoption. Under this
approach entities will recognise transitional
adjustments in retained earnings on the
date of initial application (eg 1 July 2018),
ie without restating the comparative period.
They will only need to apply the new rules
to contracts that are not completed as of
the date of initial application.

At this stage,
the Group does
not foresee any
material impact
given revenue is
predominantly
gold sales

Mandatory for
financial years
commencing on or
after 1 January
2018. Expected
date of adoption by
the Group: 1 July
2018.

AASB 16
Leases

The AASB requires a lessee to recognise
assets and liabilities for all leases with a
term of more than 12 months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value.

At this stage,
the Group does
not foresee any
material impact
given the term
and values of
current leases.

Mandatory for
financial years
commencing on her
after 1 January
2019.

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact
on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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